Institute for Market-Oriented Management University of Mannheim P.O. Box 10 34 62 68131 Mannheim Germany

Germany

Series: Scientific Working Paper No.: W117e

# Institute for Market-Oriented Management

Bauer, H. H. / Donnevert, T. / Hammerschmidt, M.

#### **Making Brand Management Accountable**

The Influence of Brand Relevance, Globalness and Architecture on Brand Efficiency

Mannheim 2008

#### Prof. Dr. Hans H. Bauer

is Professor of Business Administration and Marketing, Chair of the Marketing Department II and Academic Director of the Institute for Market-Oriented Management (IMU), University of Mannheim (Germany)

#### Dipl.-Kfm. Tobias Donnevert

is Research and Teaching Assistant at the Department of General Business Administration and Marketing II at the University of Mannheim (Germany)

#### Dr. Maik Hammerschmidt

is Assistant Professor of Marketing at the Department of General Business Administration and Marketing II at the University of Mannheim (Germany)



# Institute for Market-Oriented Management

The **Institute for Market-oriented Management** (Institut für Marktorientierte Unternehmensführung, IMU) at the University of Mannheim (Germany) considers itself to be a forum for dialogue between scientific theory and practice. The high scientific and academic standard is guaranteed by the close networking of the IMU with the two Chairs of Marketing at the University of Mannheim, both of which are highly renowned on a national and international level. The Academic Directors of the IMU are

#### Prof. Dr. Hans H. Bauer, Prof. Dr. Dr. h.c. Christian Homburg and Prof. Dr. Sabine Kuester.

The IMU offers the following services and expertise:

#### Management Know-How

The IMU publishes papers geared towards managers in companies. Subjects highly relevant to business practice are presented here in a compact and concise manner, and scientific research results are efficiently communicated. In many cases, these publications are based on application-oriented research and cooperation projects involving a large number of global companies.

#### • Scientific Working Papers

The scientific studies conducted by the IMU analyze new trends that have an impact on marketoriented management. On this basis, practice-oriented findings are derived and published in our series of scientific working papers. Today, many of our publications have been printed in prominent journals and honored with awards at international conferences (e.g., by the American Marketing Association).

## Series Publication

In addition to publishing scientific working papers, the IMU, in cooperation with Gabler publishing house, issues a series featuring exemplary scientific findings from the field of market-oriented management.

#### Application-oriented Research

At IMU, research aims at generating scientific results that are relevant to market-oriented management. Therefore, the IMU offers you the option of submitting concrete questions arising from your company practice, which are then scientifically analyzed.

If you require additional information or have any questions, please contact the **Institute for Marketoriented Management, University of Mannheim, L5, 1, 68131 Mannheim, Germany (phone: +49 621 / 181-1755)** or visit our website at: **www.imu-mannheim.com.** 







inu

The work of the IMU is supported by a group of partners comprising:

AUDI AG, n.n. BASF AG, Hans W. Reiners

Bremer Landesbank, Dr. Stephan-Andreas Kaulvers

**BSH GmbH**, Matthias Ginthum

**Carl Zeiss AG**, Dr. Rainer Ohnheiser

**Cognis Deutschland GmbH & Co. KG**, Dr. Jürgen Scherer

**Continental AG**, Tor O. Dahle

Coty GmbH Bernd Beetz

Deutsche Bank AG, Rainer Neske

**Deutsche Messe AG**, Ernst Raue

**Deutsche Post AG**, Thomas Kipp

**Deutsche Telekom AG,** Dr. Christian Illek

Dresdner Bank AG, Andree Moschner

**Dürr AG**, Ralf W. Dieter

**E.On Energie AG,** Dr. Bernhard Reutersberg

**EvoBus GmbH,** Michael Göpfarth

Hans Fahr Fiege Holding Stiftung & Co. KG, Heinz Fiege

Freudenberg & Co. KG, Jörg Sost

**Focus Magazin Verlag,** Frank-Michael Müller

**Fuchs Petrolub AG**, Stefan Fuchs

**Stephan M. Heck Heidelberg Druckmaschinen AG**, Dr. Jürgen Rautert

HeidelbergCement AG, Andreas Kern

Hoffmann-La Roche AG, Dr. Hagen Pfundner HUGO BOSS AG, n.n.

ACCRECISE SUCCESSION S





**IBM Deutschland GmbH**, Jörg Peters  $\mathbf{K} + \mathbf{S} \mathbf{A} \mathbf{G},$ Dr. Ralf Bethke KARSTADT Warenhaus GmbH, Prof. Dr. Helmut Merkel Prof. Dr. Dr. h.c. Richard Köhler Körber PaperLink GmbH, Martin Weickenmeier L'Oréal Deutschland GmbH, Rolf Sigmund Microsoft Deutschland GmbH, Achim Berg Nestlé Deutschland AG, Stefan De Loecker Pfizer Pharma GmbH, Jürgen Braun Dr. Volker Pfahlert, Thomas Pflug Procter & Gamble GmbH, Willi Schwerdtle **Raab Karcher Baustoffe GmbH** Udo H. Brandt Dr. h.c. Holger Reichardt Hans Riedel Robert Bosch GmbH, Uwe Raschke Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Jürgen Redmann Rudolf Wild GmbH & Co. KG, Carsten Kaisig **RWE Energy AG**, Dr. Andreas Radmacher **R+V** Lebensversicherung AG, Heinz-Jürgen Kallerhoff Thomas Sattelberger, SAP Deutschland AG & Co. KG Luka Mucic Prof. Dr. Dieter Thomaschewski FH Ludwigshafen TRUMPF GmbH & Co. KG, Dr. Mathias Kammüller United Internet Media AG, Matthias Ehrlich VDMA e.V.,

Dr. Hannes Hesse **Voith AG**, Bertram Staudenmaier



#### **Research Papers**

- W117e Bauer, H. H. / Donnevert, T. / Hammerschmidt, M.: Making Brand Management Accountable The Influence of Brand Relevance, Globalness and Architecture on Brand Efficiency, 2008
- W116e Wieseke, J. / Ullrich, J. / Christ, O. / van Dick, R.: Organizational Identification as a Determinant of Customer Orientation in Service Organizations, 2008
- W105e Homburg, Ch. / Hoyer, W. / Stock-Homburg, R.: How to get lost customers back? Insights into customer relationship revival activities, 2006
- W104e Homburg, Ch. / Fürst, A.: See No Evil, Hear No Evil, Speak No Evil: A Study of Defensive Organizational Behavior towards Customer, 2006
- W102e Homburg, Ch. / Jensen, O.: The Thought Worlds of Marketing and Sales: Which Differences Make a Difference?, 2006
- W101e Homburg, Ch. / Luo, X.: Neglected Outcomes of Customer Satisfaction, 2006
- W094e Bauer, H. H. / Reichardt, T. / Schüle, A.: User Requirements for Location Based Services. An analysis on the basis of literature, 2005
- W091e Homburg, Ch. / Bucerius, M.: Is Speed of Integration really a Success Factor of Mergers and Acquisitions? An Analysis of the Role of Internal and External Relatedness, 2006
- W084e Homburg, Ch. / Kuester, S. / Beutin, N. / Menon, A.: Determinants of Customer Benefits in Business-to-Business Markets: A Cross-Cultural Comparison, 2005
- W083e Homburg, Ch. / Fürst, A.: How Organizational Complaint Handling Drives Customer Loyalty: An Analysis of the Mechanistic and the Organic Approach, 2005
- W080e Homburg, Ch. / Bucerius, M.: A Marketing Perspective on Mergers and Acquisitions: How Marketing Integration Affects Post-Merger Performance, 2004
- W079e Homburg, Ch. / Koschate, N. / Hoyer, W. D.: Do Satisfied Customers Really Pay More? A Study of the Relationship between Customer Satisfaction and Willingness to Pay, 2004
- W070e Bauer, H. H. / Mäder, R. / Valtin, A.: The Effects of Brand Renaming on Brand Equity: An Analysis of the Consequences of Brand Portfolio Consolidations, 2007
- W068e Homburg, Ch. / Stock, R.: The Link between Salespeople's Job Satisfaction and Customer Satisfaction in a Business-to-Business Context. A dyadic Analysis, 2003
- W057e Bauer, H. H. / Hammerschmidt, M. / Staat, M.: Analyzing Product Efficiency. A Customer-Oriented Approach, 2002
- W055e Homburg, Ch. / Faßnacht, M. / Schneider, J.: Opposites Attract, but Similarity Works. A Study of Interorganizational Similarity in Marketing Channels, 2002
- W036e Homburg, Ch. / Pflesser, Ch.: A Multiple Layer Model of Market-Oriented Organizational Culture. Measurement Issues and Performance Outcomes., 2000
- W035e Krohmer, H. / Homburg, Ch. / Workman, J.P..: Should Marketing Be Cross-Funktional? Conceptual Development and International Empirical Evidence, 2000
- W030e Homburg, Ch. / Giering, A. / Menon, A.: Relationship Characteristics as Moderators of the Satisfaction-Loyalty Link. Findings in a Business-to-Business Context, 1999
- W029e Homburg, Ch. / Giering, A.: Personal Characteristics as Moderators of the Relationship Between Customer Satisfaction and Loyalty. An Empirical Analysis, 1999

#### For more working papers, please visit our website at: www.imu-mannheim.com









# Abstract

Brand managers are under increased pressure to illustrate the performance of their multimillion dollar expenditures. Many marketers believe brands are important because they influence customer decisions and ultimately create financial value. However, few brand managers are able to back up their beliefs with facts and figures. Thus, researchers and practitioners are increasingly advocating the need to link branding activities to customer-based brand equity and firm value. This paper provides four contributions: First, we introduce a two-stage concept of brand efficiency as a comprehensive and theoretically sound measure for the performance of the brand management process. Second, we examine internal (globaleness and brand architecture) and external (category-related brand relevance) variables that moderate brand management efficiency. Third, we provide a multi-item measure for brand relevance and validate this measure in 36 B2C product categories. Fourth, we assess brand efficiency and the influence of the moderating variables for 220 brands for 12 of these product categories.



# **Table of Contents**

1	LINKING BRAND INVESTMENTS, CUSTOMER-BASED BRAND EQUITY AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE1					
2	BRAN	ID EFFICIENCY4				
	2.1	Brand Concept 4				
	2.2	Literature Review on Dimensions of Brand Equity5				
	2.3	Brand Efficiency Concept 7				
3	MOD	ERATING VARIABLES INFLUENCING BRAND EFFICIENCY12				
	3.1	Categorization of Potential Moderators 12				
	3.2	Brand Relevance 12				
	3.3	Brand Globalness 16				
	3.4	Brand Architecture 17				
4	RESE	ARCH SETTING AND METHODOLOGY18				
	4.1	Research Setting 18				
	4.2	Measurement of Brand Relevance 19				
	4.3	Measurement of Brand Efficiency 20				
5	DATA	AND SAMPLE22				
	5.1	Data and Sample for the Brand Relevance Ranking 22				
	5.2	Data and Sample for the Measurement of Brand Efficiency 24				
6	RESU	ILTS27				
	6.1	Study 1: Testing the Influence of Brand Relevance on Brand Efficiency 27				
	6.2	Study 2: Testing the Influence of Brand Globalness on Brand Efficiency . 29				
	6.3	Study 3: Testing the Influence of Brand Architecture on Brand Efficiency 31				
	6.4	Robustness Test				
7	DISC	USSION				



# 1 LINKING BRAND INVESTMENTS, CUSTOMER-BASED BRAND EQUITY AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Due to enormous brand investments in most industries measuring brand performance and investigating factors that influence brand performance have become crucial management tasks in the past decade (Aaker and Jacobson 2001). So far, researchers and practitioners predominantly focus on the brand equity construct as a measure of brand performance (Mizik and Jacobson 2008). Existing brand equity approaches almost exclusively consider brand investment outcomes which commonly are divided into customer-based and financial outcomes (for an overview see Ambler et al. 2002 or Yoo and Donthu 2001).

Several authors stress that most of existing brand equity metrics are developed ad hoc and are used in an isolated way (Keller and Lehmann 2006). More specifically, a lot of approaches only investigate consumers' cognition and affect as a result of branding activities. However, this narrow focus has prevented a full appreciation of the link between customer-related outcomes and the financial outcomes accruing from customers' attitudes. Thus, several authors call for a stronger integration of different outcome variables (Gupta and Zeithaml 2006; Lehmann 2004). Moreover, most approaches do not relate brand outcomes to brand investments which were employed to create these outcomes. Consequently, they offer no means to trace how brand initiatives affect a firm's cash flows and shareholders' wealth. This makes it difficult for brand managers to justify their investments while at the same time chief executive officers require greater marketing accountability (Rust, Lemon, and Zeithaml 2004; Srinivasan and Hanssens 2008).

The first contribution of our paper is to address these issues by introducing the concept of brand efficiency as a broader, more integrated measure of brand performance. Thus, we provide a methodologically and theoretically sound measure for the efficiency of the brand management process. We capture brand management as a two-step chain of input-output-transformations. In the first step brand investments (e.g., communication spending) are transformed to several customer-perceived outputs (e.g., brand awareness) which are in the second step transformed into financial outputs (e.g., brand revenues). Thus, we offer a single framework that can integrate the multitude of brand equity metrics. Furthermore, we consider both the input side (brand investments) and the output side (brand equity) simultaneously.



By considering a two step-process we offer a comprehensive model that traces how brand management actions are linked to cash flows for the firm and shareholders via generating cognitive and affective effects on the customer side. For each step of the chain we obtain a ratio of multiple outputs to multiple inputs yielding the "return on brand investment". This efficiency operationalization reflects the recent advancements of resource-based view that competitive advantage derives not only from the level of brand investments but mainly from the efficient use of resources (Dutta, Narasimhan, and Rajiv 2005; Pan and Luo 2006). We explicitly model the brand management's capability of converting employed resources into outputs efficiently. We employ a two-stage Data Envelopment Analysis (DEA)-model to measure the efficiency of both transformation steps for 220 brands for 12 categories. Substantial variance in the efficiencies is found across brands and across categories.

Obviously, brands are not equally successful in implementing the brand management chain efficiently. We suggest that several variables influence the efficiency of the input-outputtransformation on both steps. These moderating variables are important factors for explaining the brand management inefficiencies observed for many firms. Drawing on the conceptual ideas of Keller and Lehmann (2003) we distinguish between external and internal moderators. As external or market-related factors they mention product category characteristics. Perry et al. (2003) propose the construct of brand relevance as a key variable that captures many market characteristics. According to this study, the influence or importance of the criterion "brand" for consumers buying decisions (brand relevance) varies heavily across product categories. This is supported by the findings of Court et al. (1996). Therefore, we suggest that one important reason for brand management inefficiencies lies in the fact that firms do not align brand investments to the level of brand relevance in their markets.

For example, utility companies in Europe invested millions of Euros in broad-coverage advertising campaigns to develop their brands. In fact, among consumers, energy corporation brands such as E.ON or Yello now achieve levels of brand awareness and esteem equal to those of traditional consumer goods. However, these expenditures did not translate into economic success. In March 2002, the business press reported that the branding campaign persuaded only 1,100 customers to switch to E.ON (Perrey et al. 2003). With advertising expenditures of EUR 22.5 million, acquisition costs of EUR 20,500 were spent per customer. Given the average annual turnover of approximately EUR 600 per customer, it is unlikely for



this investment to pay off over the customer life cycle even if "strategic growth options" are taken into account.

The E.ON campaign highlights that - although the level of brand awareness is very high - this might have little influence on purchase behaviour and thus, the translation efficiency from awareness to economic outcomes is weak. This leads us to conclude that brand relevance – i.e. the brands' influence on consumers' purchase decisions - is one important variable for predicting whether brand building efforts have financial impact.

Drawing on the literature, we suppose that in addition to brand relevance internal or firmrelated moderators might be important for explaining variances in brand efficiency. In this regard, brand strategy-related variables like brand globalness and brand architecture are frequently mentioned (Rao, Agarwal, and Dahlhoff 2004).

As a second contribution we empirically test how brand relevance and globalness as well as brand architecture influence the input-output-transformation efficiency of brand management. In contrast to globalness and brand architecture, only few studies exist that address the conceptualization and measurement of a product market's brand relevance (Fischer et al. 2004; Perry et al. 2003). However, these authors use a single-item measure for the brand relevance construct only. Therefore, to achieve the second contribution we develop a multi-item measure for the brand relevance in a product category in terms of the "brand driveness" of purchase decisions in that category.

To test our hypotheses on the influence of the three moderators on brand efficiency we analyze 220 brands for 12 product categories exhibiting different levels of brand relevance and varying with respect to globalness and brand architecture.



# 2 BRAND EFFICIENCY

# 2.1 Brand Concept

Brands can be seen from both a formal (as a name, an expression, a sign, symbol etc.) and an effect-related perspective. The central idea of the effect-related approach is that a brand is ultimately created in the mind of the customer and thus cannot be defined exclusively by means of formal aspects. Consumers might associate a brand with a particular attribute or feature, usage situation, product spokesperson, or logo. These associations are typically viewed as being organized in memory as associative network (Anderson 1983). This network constitutes a brand's image, identifies the brand's uniqueness and value to consumers (Aaker 1996). In line with this interpretation we understand a brand as a map or semantic network anchored in the consciousness of the customer that differentiates a firm's products or services from those of a competitor (Figure 1).



Figure 1: Brand Map of Porsche



# 2.2 Literature Review on Dimensions of Brand Equity

Brand equity is defined as the incremental value of a product due to the brand name (Keller and Lehmann 2006). This incremental value can be created at three different levels: customer level, product-market level, and financial-market level.

## (1) Customer level

At this level, brand equity is part of the customer's attraction to a particular product from a particular company generated by the 'nonobjective' part of the product offering, i.e., not by the product attributes per se (Keller and Lehmann 2006). Thus, the customer-based brand equity (CBBE) construct refers to the incremental utility or value added to a product by its brand name. All approaches on customer level either implicitly or explicitly focus on brand-knowledge structures in the minds of consumers as the source of brand equity. To capture differences in brand-knowledge structures, most models focus on the following two aspects: awareness (ranging from recognition to recall) and associations/image encompassing tangible and intangible product or service considerations (Kapferer 2004; Keller 2003; Morrin and Ratneshwar 2003). We understand consumer-based brand equity as the difference of cognitive and emotional response between a focal brand and an unbranded product when both have the same level of marketing stimuli and product attributes (Yoo and Donthu 2001). The difference in consumers' response demonstrates the effects of the long-term marketing investments into the brand.

## (2) Product-market level

The equity of a brand in product markets is ultimately derived from the words and actions of consumers. Consumers decide with their purchases, based on whatever factors they deem important, which brands have more equity than others (Villas-Boas 2004). A number of approaches have been developed to assess brand equity on product-market level. These include measures of price premiums, increased demand and repeat purchase rates, decreased sensitivity to competitors' prices, and the ability to enhance growth and market share (Hoeffler and Keller 2003). In this study we define the brand impact in product markets as the additional value (in terms of profitability and revenues) that accrues to a firm because of the presence of the brand name that would not accrue to an equivalent unbranded product.



#### (3) Financial-market level

The last approach to measuring brand equity is based on financial-market performance (Aaker and Jacobson 2001; Mizik and Jacobson 2008). One definition that has been proposed uses the component of market value that can not be explained by current-term financial measures (i.e., book equity or earnings). Thus, from a financial market's point of view, brands are assets that, like plant and equipment, can be bought and sold. The financial worth of a brand is therefore the price it brings or could bring in the financial market. Presumably this price reflects expectations about the discounted value of future cash flows. In the absence of a market transaction, it can be estimated by relating changes of brand attributes or brand attributes to movements in stock price. Studies show that the stock market reflects future prospects for brands by adjusting the price of firms (Mizik and Jacobson 2008). In this paper we define a brand's financial performance by the influence on stock price, P/E-ratio or market capitalization.

In spite of the numerous research efforts to define brand equity a general theoretical framework that orders and integrates the most relevant metrics has not been formulated so far (Erdem and Swait 1998). A number of "stand alone" brand equity approaches have been developed that capture but not link aspects of brand equity. They provide only fragmented insights rather than a comprehensive perspective on brand performance. Similarly, a number of dashboards, cockpits and scorecards are developed by firms using brand equity metrics in an isolated way (Ambler and Barwise 1998). This has given rise to certain confusion with the term. Therefore, in a recent research agenda on branding Keller and Lehmann (2006) call for approaches that integrate the three perspectives of brand equity. In the following section we introduce the concept of brand efficiency as a comprehensive and theoretically sound measure for the performance of the brand management process. In order to link brand equity measures to brand management actions we conceptualize brand management as a chain of input-output-transformations.



# 2.3 Brand Efficiency Concept

Brand efficiency or brand management efficiency is to be understood as a ratio of multiple brand outputs to multiple brand inputs. It captures how brand management transforms deployed brand investments (e.g., advertising spending) into brand outcomes (consumer based and financial brand success). Our brand efficiency operationalization reflects the "return on brand investment" and thus extends the notion of "return on investment" or "return on marketing" on branding (Rust et al. 2004; Rust, Zahorik, and Keiningham 1995). We argue that firm performance is not (only) driven by the level of marketing investments or the level of brand awareness, but predominantly by the capability to efficiently translate brand investments into awareness and, subsequently, awareness into profitable market outcomes. It is possible that some firms with higher brand efforts are outperformed by other firms with relatively lower levels of brand investments but higher translation efficiency.

Our approach reflects the recent advancements of resource-based view and capability theory that view management as an input-output process and capabilities as the efficiencies in this process, i.e. the concrete transformation function (Dutta et al. 2005; Pan and Luo 2006). There has been a long-standing criticism of capability theory for its lack of rigor in measuring capabilities. By applying the efficiency operationalization of capabilities and using DEA to measure efficiency we quantify the transformation capability of brand management. DEA benchmarks each brand's efficiency – i.e. the return on brand investment – to that of the best practice brands that achieve the best input-output-transformation. These best practices form the maximum production frontier. The calculated relative efficiency score indicates the percentage of wasted inputs, i.e. the percentage of inputs that is not converted into outputs.

The purpose of our approach is to gain insights into how brand management can transform deployed inputs into outputs aligned to the steps of the brand management process. In order to conceptualize this brand management process we build on ideas proposed by Keller and Lehmann (2006) and introduce the input-output-chain of brand management (see Figure 2).



Figure 2: Brand Management Chain

In the first step of the chain brand management actions are considered which are linked both to cognitive and affective dimension of customer-based brand equity (CBBE). Because of its potential to ultimately create wealth for the firm and its investors we treat branding initiatives or actions as investments (Rao and Bharadwaj 2008). Referring to the literature review both dimensions of CBBE are captured appropriately by brand awareness and brand image respectively. According to the literature they are mainly driven by investments in communication, distribution and product quality (Rossiter and Percy 1997; Yoo, Donthu, and Lee 2000). The influence and the importance of these three key drivers can be supported by several theoretical arguments.

## (1) Impact of product quality on CBBE

Empirical evidence exists that changes in objective quality in the short run (Boulding, Kalra, and Staelin 1999) and in the long run (Mitra and Golder 2006) have a strong influence on consumers' perception of quality. This perceived quality and not the objective product quality itself is the driver of satisfaction of individual needs and expectations towards the brand and thus forms a part of a brand's image (Sweeney and Soutar 2001). Tangible product quality is especially critical for performance-based brands whose sources of brand equity rest primarily in product-related associations (Keller 2003). A company investing high amounts in product



quality also benefits from positive word-of-mouth through satisfied consumers enhancing the awareness of the brand (Rust et al. 1995).

## (2) Impact of communication on CBBE

Consumers, when exposed to advertising, pass through a sequence of cognitive, affective and conative stages before they finally purchase the product (Yoo, Stout and Kim 2004). The consumer receives information about a brand resulting in brand awareness (cognitive dimension). Building hereon, the consumer develops emotions towards the brand (affective dimension). On the basis of his brand image he then decides about the final purchase (conative dimension). In contrast to this rigid sequence, state-of-the art results indicates a "heterarchy" of effects, i.e. advertising may impact both brand awareness and brand image simultaneously (Cramphorn 2006; Vakratsas and Ambler 1999; Weilbacher 2001). This concern is met in our study by including both the cognitive (brand awareness) and affective (brand image) as outputs of the first step of the brand management chain.

Another theory supporting the impact of communication investments on CBBE is the information economics theory. To reduce their behavioral uncertainty, consumers make use of extrinsic cues. Heavy advertising spending may serve as such a cue to the (potential) customers, who perceive high advertising investments as a firm's credible commitment to the brand. They assume that a company would not invest large amount of money in communications for a brand that will not fulfill the expectations of consumers, thus endangering repeat purchase (Erdem and Swait 1998). Hence, investments into advertising are positively related to perceived quality, leading to a more favorable brand image and thus higher CBBE.

Overwhelming empirical support for the successful generation of customer-based brand equity through advertising can be found in various empirical studies (Boulding, Lee, and Staelin 1994; Chu and Keh 2006; Cobb-Walgren, Ruble, and Donthu 1995; Yoo et al. 2000).

#### (3) Impact of distribution on CBBE

Distribution investments account for a large share of investments in the brand (Mahajan 1991). Exclusive or selective distribution may act as an extrinsic cue of superior quality to customers under asymmetric information. The enhanced perceived quality, again, strengthens



the brand's image (Chu and Chu 1994). Intensive distribution induces higher consumer awareness because of the ubiquitous availability of the product (Farris, Oliver, and de Kluyver 1989; Smith 1992). This leads to more shopping convenience, a reduction in searching and traveling time for the consumers and thus more utility and value attributed to the brand through the customer. Villarejo-Ramos, Rondán-Cataluña, and Sánchez-Franco (2008) find that distribution intensity is positively related to higher brand awareness and to higher brand image.

In the second step of the brand management chain, brand image and brand awareness are converted into financial outcomes. According to our literature review on brand equity we distinguish between product-market performance and stock-market performance. This follows the logic that from the marketing perspective consumers are the major constituency driving brand revenue, while shareholders constitute the central stakeholder from a financial perspective driving stock price.

#### (4) Impact of CBBE on product-market performance

According to the resource-based view, competitive advantages and superior performance originate from firm-specific endowments and use of resources. To be of strategic relevance and to contribute to a firm's sustainable success a resource has to be valuable, rare, non substitutable and inimitable (Wernerfelt 1984). According to the literature, it is widely acknowledged that brands are rare, and difficult to substitute and imitate due to their intangible nature and their legal protection (Capron and Hulland 1999). However, brands are not equally valuable for all markets as the link between CBBE and market performance highly depends on market characteristics.

For capturing product-market performance which reflects accounting performance we use brand revenues and operating income (EBITDA). Both measures have been shown in prior research to have specific information content (Kothari 2001; Mizik and Jacobson 2008).

#### (5) Impact of CBBE on stock-market performance

Brands that show high values on customer-based brand equity can increase shareholder value by enhancing the level of cash flows, accelerating the speed of cash flows, extending their duration and reducing the associated risk (Chu and Keh 2006; Srivastava, Shervani, and



Fahey 1998). In the context of signaling theory, company shares can be interpreted as credence goods since its return cannot be predicted before purchase. A brand can act as a signal for investors by supplying information content equivalent to that of stock prices, thus leading to faster purchase of shares and higher returns (Aaker and Jacobson 2001). Findings from the field of behavioral finance can be used to explain why strong brands can command higher share premiums. A large amount of a share premium that cannot be ascribed to fundamental factors can be explained by the existence of strong brands. When predicting the future performance of a company, investors and stock market analysts take into account the brands of the firm (Frieder and Subrahmanyam 2005; Kerin and Sethuraman 1998; Madden, Fehle and Fournier 2006; Mizik and Jacobson 2008; Shankar, Azar, and Fuller 2008).

Several publications capture stock-market performance by a company's market capitalization (e.g., Rust et al. 2004). We believe that from a financial-market perspective the stock price relative to earnings (Price/Earnings-ratio) should be used as an outcome of brand investments because it is a more comprehensive indicator for stock-market performance: Both the company earnings (Ei) and the willingness of investors to pay for it (measured by the P/E-ratio) are the drivers of market capitalization (MVi).

(1) 
$$MV_i = E_i \times \left(\frac{P}{E}\right)_i$$

Furthermore research findings in finance show that the P/E-ratio (willingness to pay) is positively influenced by the liquidity and breadth of a stock. According to Grullon, Kanatas, and Weston (2004) brand investments are a key driver of liquidity and breadth of a stock because stocks of strong brands are heavily traded. Additionally, investors view a strong brand as an indicator for the company's ability to create and to ensure future cash flows (Madden et al. 2006). This paper investigates how efficient brand investments are transformed into customer based outcomes (step 1) and, subsequently, how efficient this customer based brand impact is transformed into financial outcomes (step 2). In order to do so it has to be considered that the efficiency of the input-output-transformation in both steps might be influenced by several moderator variables. We discuss potential moderators in the next section.



# **3 MODERATING VARIABLES INFLUENCING BRAND EFFICIENCY**

#### 3.1 Categorization of Potential Moderators

The proposed brand management process captured in Figure 2 takes place in a permanently changing internal and external environment. To ensure efficiency of brand management a brand manager has to take into account certain moderating variables that may influence the conversion of brand inputs into brand outcomes. The literature on potential moderating factors suggests two categories of moderators (Keller and Lehmann 2003; Srinivasan 2006): firm-specific, individual characteristics (internal moderators) and product category-related characteristics (external moderators). Building on the extensive attention that branding strategies have received in the literature we will focus on the globalness (global vs. local brand) and brand architecture (corporate brand vs. product brand) as firm-specific moderators of branding efficiency. With respect to external moderators we will take into account the category-specific brand relevance as this variable reflects many market characteristics such as product complexity, risk profile and market dynamics (see the next section on brand relevance).

## 3.2 Brand Relevance

#### (1) Definition of brand relevance

No matter how successful firms will be in building strong brands (i.e., in creating high levels of awareness and image), there exists evidence that brands are not equally important to purchasing decisions in every product or service market (see the next section). We define brand relevance as the degree to which branding plays a key role in consumers' choice process for a product in a given product category (Fischer et al. 2004; Perry et al. 2003). The stronger the role of the brand against other purchase decision criteria, such as price, customer service, or product quality, the more relevant the brand appears. Brand relevance reflects how strong consumers activate their semantic brand networks during the buying process to support their decision.



#### (2) Literature review

Brand relevance is an often-used phrase, but it generally has not been well defined or explained. Aaker (2004) regards a brand as relevant if there is a perceived need or desire of a customer segment for a given product category and if the brand is part of the evoked set of brands that a segment considers as being material to the product category.

Similarly, Kapferer and Laurent (1992) find that the need for brand name in order to make a buying decision is mainly explained through product category characteristics such as choice complexity, market concentration and purchase frequency. Thus, it depends on the product category whether consumers in this category prefer to buy a well-known brand and mind to buy store brands.

Consultants of McKinsey & Company and researchers from Germany introduced the term brand relevance and conducted studies in various product categories (Perrey et al. 2003). Building on the work of Kapferer and Laurent (1992) they define brand relevance as the degree to which the brand plays a key role for consumers' choice process in a given product category. To measure brand relevance the authors use a single-item measure. They find that brand relevance is determined by product-market characteristics (e.g., kind of product, kind of purchasing process, and market-related conditions). Product-market characteristics determine the functions a brand can potentially fulfil in a product market and therefore they determine the brand relevance levels. Their data was gathered in a consumer market survey of more than 2,500 consumers. Brand relevance was assessed in detail for 45 product markets in the B2C sector. Fischer et al. (2004) advanced that study by validating the single-item measure using a constant sum scale and data from various studies that included the criterion brand in conjoint analysis.

In the context of B2B markets, Mudambi's (2002) exploratory study provides evidence that in particular categories most buyers are likely to choose well-known brands while in other categories most are "tangible" and place high emphasis on technical product attributes. Highly branding receptive categories contain products that require great service and support; are complex and involve high risk.



#### (3) Product-market characteristics as antecedents of brand relevance

The existing studies show that the importance of brands for consumers buying decisions is strongly related to market characteristics. Consumers will only be appreciative to brands as a decision criterion if the brand offers utility during or after the purchasing process e.g. in terms enhancing information efficiency and risk reduction (Erdem, Swait, and Valenzuela 2006). The extent to which brands can offer utility to consumers depends on product category characteristics (e.g., product complexity, visibility of brand symbol, price level of products etc.). That means that brand relevance varies across product categories depending on market characteristics.

#### (4) Brand relevance and the semantic brand network

Referring to our understanding of a brand as a semantic network anchored in the mind of the customer, brand relevance measures if consumers in a product category activate this network during the buying decision process to improve their decision. The network will only be activated if the brand (knowledge) delivers value to customers (e.g., increase information efficiency, reduce risk or deliver hedonic benefit). To illustrate our understanding of brand relevance we can use, for example, the market for luxury sports cars, a high-priced consumer product with low purchasing frequency. When thinking about buying a sports car, consumer associations should then be activated which are strongly linked to branding, such as perceptions of quality, prestige, fun. Consumers should use their brand networks and brand knowledge intensively because the brand of a sports car can create strong benefits, particularly with respect to "social consumption". Branding could also reduce risk associated with the purchase of such an expensive and durable consumer item. Purchasing well-known brands can reduce this risk. In contrast, a brand function like information efficiency will be of less importance as consumers are prepared to take an extensive purchase decision. In contrast when buying paper tissues the consumer might just choose the product with the design or packing he likes most or simply chooses the cheapest paper tissue available. Therefore, there is no need to activate the tissue brand networks because the benefit of the brand for this particular purchase is low.



To view brand relevance as the degree to which a consumer activates the brand association networks during the buying process is important because it shows an important point: Assume that for paper tissues brand relevance is low and the importance of price is high. The producer might argue to position the tissue brand as a low price brand and to invest in communication to build up a brand network with a strong "low price-association" in consumer's mind. Then although of the revealed low brand relevance the brand should have an influence because it is associated with the most important buying decision criterion. According to our understanding this line of reasoning is wrong because even if the producer is successful in creating the low price-association, in a product category with low brand relevance this information will not be accessed as the semantic network that contains this link is not activated due to low brand relevance. Instead of investing in branding the manufacturer might focus on other criteria such as promotions, packaging design, pricing, or trade terms.

Summarizing the findings we think brand relevance reflects or bundles the impact of several product-market variables (product complexity etc.) and thus is located on an aggregated level.

## (5) Influence of brand relevance on brand efficiency

While the first step of the brand management chain is mainly concerned with the creation of awareness and favorable customer perceptions, the task in the second step is to deploy the generated consumer-based brand equity in the marketplace. Deployment refers to "executing" and "implementing" actions in a way that they lead to superior market performance (Pan and Luo 2006). Several studies emphasize that market characteristics, challenges and requirements determine if CBBE can be converted into financial outcomes efficiently (Slotegraaf, Moorman, and Inman 2003). Market characteristics are exogenously given and cannot be controlled by brand management, at least not within a short-term horizon (Smith 1992). Thus, for exploring the reasons for success in the second step transformation market-based aspects play a much more important role than firm-related (internal) aspects (e.g., brand strategy). As explained above, we consider brand relevance as a construct reflecting the impact of several market characteristics. We hypothesize that only if brands have a significant impact on the buying decision of consumers (i.e., the level of brand relevance is high), high efficiency of translating consumer-based brand equity into financial success will occur. Thus, we formulate:



- $H_{1a}$ : In the first step of the brand management chain, no significant efficiency differences exist between product markets with high, medium and low brand relevance.
- $H_{1b}$ : In the second step of the brand management chain, efficiency is significantly higher in product markets with high brand relevance than in product markets with medium brand relevance and this efficiency is significantly higher than in product markets with low brand relevance.

# 3.3 Brand Globalness

An often cited performance determinant is whether a firm pursues a global or local branding strategy. A global brand strategy is linked with a multi-country or worldwide distribution and a high degree of standardization regarding positioning, image and marketing mix (Aaker and Joachimsthaler 1999; Craig and Douglas 2000; Quelch 1999). The key reason to follow a global branding strategy is the possibility of generating strong synergies and economies of scale. A standardized brand helps to save costs in communication, production and logistics (Steenkamp, Batra, and Alden 2003). Building a strong brand image is reinforced if consumers are exposed to the brand not only in their home country but also in other countries. A uniform brand communication across countries reinforces the consumers' response in terms of awareness and image (Holt, Quelch, and Taylor 2004; Yip 2003). The accumulated exposure frequency therefore enables the company to leverage the efficiency of its advertising investments (Craig and Douglas 2000). Centrally managing the same brand in several countries reduces complexity in brand management which again reduces costs as well as increases efficiency in operations (Keller 2003; Quelch 1999). This diversification into various geographical areas mitigates the risk of the company by reducing earnings volatility (Srivastava and Reibstein 2004).

Following the above argumentation, it seems logical that the same brand equity values can be achieved with lower brand investments compared to firms following local branding strategies. Therefore, we hypothesize that globalness positively influences the input-output-translation in the first step of the brand management chain. Findings also suggest that global brands achieve better brand performance, thus seem to be more efficient in converting CBBE into market and financial outcomes, leading to higher efficiency scores on the second step of the brand management chain. Thus, the following hypotheses are formulated:



- $H_{2a}$ : In the first step of the brand management chain, efficiency is significantly higher for global brands than for local brands.
- *H*<sub>2b</sub>: In the second step of the brand management chain, efficiency is significantly higher for global brands than for local brands.

# 3.4 Brand Architecture

Srinivasan (2006) finds that a branded-house strategy significantly enhances the effects of new product introductions and brand advertising activities, compared to house-of-brands strategies on revenue premium. Similar to the rationale of global brands, to follow a branded-house-strategy seems more efficient than following a house-of-brands-strategy. A single brand allows the firm to save resources and obtain synergies in brand management, especially in communications, and facilitates the introduction of new products. As consumers associate higher quality and less risk with an umbrella brand (Erdem 1998), lower costs needed for building CBBE suggests higher efficiency levels in building brand value (Rao et al. 2004).

Several empirical studies show that a branded-house-strategy leads to increased performance (Rao et al. 2004; Shankar et al. 2008). However, by measuring overall performance, theses studies neglect to examine the "black box" of how investments are transformed into financial outputs. Hence, by distinguishing between the customer and the financial perspective in our two-step framework we are able to locate the sources of the performance advantages of the branded-house strategy for each step of the brand chain.

To sum up, we assume that a corporate brand will be more efficient in the transition of brand investments into customer based brand equity due to lower costs needed for building comparable CBBE as product brands. A corporate brand may also show higher efficiency levels when transferring the latter into brand outcomes compared to product brands. Thus, we propose:

- $H_{3a}$ : In the first step of the brand management chain, efficiency is significantly higher for corporate brands than for product brands.
- $H_{3b}$ : In the second step of the brand management chain, efficiency is significantly higher for corporate brands than for product brands.



# 4 RESEARCH SETTING AND METHODOLOGY

# 4.1 Research Setting

To test our hypotheses we use the following procedure: First, we measure brand relevance in 36 different product categories, rank them according to their level of brand relevance and classify them into three groups (markets with low, medium and high levels of brand relevance). Second, for 12 product categories from these three groups brand efficiency is measured by using a two-step Data Envelopment Analysis model. Third, we conduct three studies to test the three potential moderating effects of brand relevance ( $H_{1a}$  and  $H_{1b}$ ), globalness ( $H_{2a}$  and  $H_{2b}$ ), and brand architecture ( $H_{3a}$  and  $H_{3b}$ ), on brand efficiency as mentioned above.

In study 1 we use 12 product-categories: 4 categories exhibiting high brand relevance, 4 categories with medium and 4 categories with low level of relevance. Then we compare the efficiency for step 1 and step 2 respectively between the categories of the different relevance levels. Three of four categories for each relevance level contain brands that are not publicly traded. Thus, for these categories conventional (product-market related) performance metrics (EBITDA, brand revenue) are used as final outputs. To test for the robustness of the results, the fourth category for each relevance level consists of publicly traded "mono-brand" manufacturers. Thus, for these categories we can use product-market and stock-market related performance metrics. We believe that examining samples with stock metrics is important as several studies emphasize that stock returns may be driven by brand equity (Joshi and Hanssens 2004; Mizik and Jacobson 2008). This may lead to higher appreciation potential due to an "investor response effect" that exists beyond the pure sales response effect of branding activities.

In study 2 the influence of the globalness of a brand strategy on brand efficiency is tested. For this purpose we analyze the efficiency scores for global and local brands respectively. To control for potential effects of differences in brand relevance for these brands, we compare global and local brands on each level of brand relevance separately.

To test the moderating effect of brand architecture on brand efficiency we conduct study 3, comparing the efficiency of umbrella brands vs. product brands.



# 4.2 Measurement of Brand Relevance

Existing studies are explorative in nature or use a single-item measure for the category-related brand relevance only (Fischer et al. 2004; Perrey et al. 2003). Therefore, we develop a measure for the category-related brand relevance following the procedure of van Ittersum et al. (2007). The authors argue that attribute importance (such as the relevance of brands for buying decisions) is a multidimensional concept and that different methods of should be used to measure the different dimensions of attribute importance. They distinguish between three dimensions of attribute importance: salience, relevance, and determinance. Salience reflects the degree of ease with which attributes come to mind or are recognized when thinking about or seeing a certain object. Relevance of attributes is largely determined by personal values and desires and reflects the importance of an attribute in judgment and choice. The authors recommend the free-elicitation method to measure the salience, the direct-rating method to measure the relevance and the trade-off method to measure the determinance of an attribute. Therefore, we use all three mentioned methods to capture all dimensions of the relevance of brands for the buying decisions in a product category.

**First**, we use the free-elicitation technique to get an understanding for the relevant purchase criteria in different product categories (Steenkamp and van Trijp 1997). The free-elicitation method uses an open-ended question to let individuals indicate which decision criteria they believe are important, for instance, when thinking about buying a product. As no attribute information is presented when using this method, it solely relies on people's ability to retrieve internal attribute information stored in memory.

**Second**, we ask individuals to rate the relevance of brands for their buying decision on a direct-rating scale (Srivastava, Connolly, and Beach 1995). For this purpose, we develop a multi-item measure of brand relevance. Based on the review of existing literature presented above and empirical pre-tests in various product categories we generated five items that capture our understanding of brand relevance. We reveal the influence of the decision criterion "brand" in a product market by asking consumers if in product category X (1) the brand plays an important role compared to other decision criteria (e.g., price); (2) the brand is a very important decision criterion; (3) it is important for them to buy branded products; (4)



they would buy a branded product even if they would have to incur extra efforts; (5) the brand is very important for the purchase decision. The advantage of this measurement model is that it can be assessed using fit measures from exploratory and confirmatory factor analysis.

**Third**, we validate this measure using a "constant sum scale" which represents a trade-off method (Schori 1995). The constant sum scale produces a ratio measurement which captures the magnitude of a characteristic and scales the differences between alternatives. Constant sum data is obtained by asking the respondent to allocate 100 points across different decision criteria (e.g., price, design, quality, brand etc.) so as to reflect their degree of importance. Here we use category-specific criteria that we derived from the free-elicitation interviews.

Using the direct-rating measurement scale we can classify existing product categories according to their level of brand relevance. Validating our scale with the constant sum measure is appropriate as this method reveals the importance of brands compared to other important criteria. If there is a strong correlation between the rankings of categories according to the mean value of the direct rating method and the average score resulting from the constant sum measure this is strong evidence for the external validity of our brand relevance measure.

## 4.3 Measurement of Brand Efficiency

To capture the two steps of the brand management chain we use a two-stage Data Envelopment Analysis (DEA) model. DEA is a nonparametric tool that can deal with multiple inputs and outputs when measuring inefficiency. It estimates an efficient frontier by maximizing the weighted output/input ratio of each brand, thus producing a single measure of overall efficiency (Charnes, Cooper, and Rhodes 1978). Efficient brands are those for which no other brand or linear combination of brands can generate as much as or more of the output given the input levels. Each brand's efficiency is assessed relative to this frontier (Seiford 1996).

For each step of the brand management chain, the transformation efficiency is calculated by solving the fractional programming format:

(2) 
$$\max \theta_k = \frac{\sum_{j=1}^s u_{rk} y_{rk}}{\sum_{j=1}^m v_{jk} x_{jk}} \text{ s.t.} = \frac{\sum_{j=1}^s u_r y_{ri}}{\sum_{j=1}^m v_j x_{ji}} \le 1; i = 1, ..., n; u_r \ge 0; v_j \ge 0; r = 1, ..., s; j = 1, ..., m.$$



The objective of this model is to maximize the conversion ratio of producing the outputs  $y_r$ from the necessary inputs  $x_i$  for brand k by fitting the data with different weights for outputs  $(u_r)$  and inputs  $(v_i)$ . All estimated efficiency  $(\theta_i)$  results are either equal to or less than 1 (100%). Efficient brands (identified as the best practices by DEA) have a score of 1 and form the efficient frontier. The remaining brands have a score between 0 and 1. The portion  $(1 - \theta_k)$  represents the inefficient percentage of inputs for brand k, i.e. resources that can be saved with holding the output level constant. DEA is well suited for measuring brand efficiency because of its methodological advantages. First, DEA results are based on comparisons with the most efficient brands that operate under similar situations and scales, whereas simple ratios reflect average performing brands and do not account for heterogeneity. DEA accounts for individual brand differences rather than smoothing out differences based on the means (like in regression). Second, DEA is a mathematical programming that does not require any subjective specifications in weighting the multiple inputs and multiple outputs. whereas simple ratios require such a subjective assumption (Luo and Donthu 2006). Moreover, DEA fits well with the RBV which is fundamentally a theory about extraordinary performers or best practices (Hansen, Perry, and Reese 2004). DEA is such a method and identifies a maximum production frontier and benchmarks brand efficiency at the individual level.

According to the brand management chain the influence of the resources employed by brand management instruments on financial performance is indirect, utilizing psychographic outputs as intermediate factors to generate financial outputs (Keh and Chu 2003). Thus, we recast the brand management chain as a chain of two DEA models. In the first step DEA model we examine the conversion of brand investments into awareness and image. Subsequently, in the second step DEA model it is investigated whether customer-perceived variables are translated into "hard" economic facts efficiently. Such a multi-step model allows insights into the sources of overall brand (in)efficiency. Not decomposing the overall efficiency score would mask whether inefficiency arises from "strategic" aspects (creating superior awareness and image).



# 5 DATA AND SAMPLE

# 5.1 Data and Sample for the Brand Relevance Ranking

In order to obtain a ranking of product categories according to their level of brand relevance we randomly selected 36 business-to-consumer (B2C) product categories from the categories contained in the Consumer Price Index. Following the procedure proposed by van Ittersum et al. (2007) we used free-elicitation technique, a direct-rating scale and a constant sum scale to ensure validity of our brand relevance measure.

## (1) Free-elicitation technique

The first stage of the field research involved a series of 160 exploratory interviews to collect qualitative information on purchasing criteria in the 36 categories. Close to shopping malls we randomly selected individuals that were asked to indicate five categories that they recently purchased from. Using an open-ended question the interviewees elicited the attributes that were most important for their buying decision in the selected five product categories. The interviews typically lasted between 10 and 15 minutes, and followed a semi-structured interview format. Similar to the methodology used by Kohli and Jaworski (1990), the interviewers did not use the word 'branding' in the interviews. From the total set of identified buying decision criteria, we selected the five most common criteria per category (e.g., price, quality and design) based on an objective count of the number of mentions ( $\geq$  10 times).

## (2) Direct-rating scale

In the second stage the five brand relevance statements introduced above were transferred to an online and to an offline questionnaire in order to ensure a representative sample. To ensure that respondents only answered questions about product categories they are familiar with, we first asked them to indicate that categories where they had purchase experiences within the last 12 months. Among these "familiar" product categories four were randomly selected and respondents answered the five relevance questions per category and several questions regarding socio-economic characteristics. For the five brand relevance statements we used a seven-point Likert-scale ranging from "absolutely do not agree" to "absolutely agree". Brand



relevance within a category is measured as the average value of the index of the five items for all respondents.

3,672 respondents answered the questionnaires. As every respondent rated four product categories we obtained 14,688 evaluations in total, i.e., about 400 evaluations per category. The sample's socio-economic characteristics are as follows: Sex: 47% male; Age: 33% 16-29 years, 37% 30-49 years and 30% 50+ years; Education: 16% had A-Levels and 10% a university degree. Based on the obtained data we conducted exploratory and confirmatory factor analysis indicating excellent fit measures for our brand relevance scale (Cronbach's alpha: .94, Variance Extracted: 81%,  $\chi^2/df$ : 0.78, RMSEA: .01, NNFI: 1, CFI: 1; SRMR: .022). Thus, we used our scale to calculate the brand relevance score for each category resulting in a brand relevance ranking of the 36 categories shown in Table 1.

#### (3) Constant sum scale

To validate our brand relevance scale we included a constant sum scale in the online and offline questionnaires consisting of the five most frequently mentioned decision criteria per category including brand (based on the free-elicitation technique). Respondent were asked to allocate 100 points across the five decision criteria (e.g., price, design, quality, brand). As a result we received a relative importance score for the decision criterion brand compared to the four other criteria. To examine the convergent validity we then correlated the importance of brand measured by the two methods across individuals (Stillwell, Barron, and Edward 1983). Correlations above .45 are considered high (van Ittersum et al. 2007). Thus, as we found a correlation coefficient of .67 we consider the convergent validity of our brand relevance scale as very high.

For testing moderating effects of brand relevance the levels of the moderator should be treated as different groups (Baron and Kenny 1986). For grouping categories with respect to brand relevance a third split was used instead of median split as this tends to be more conservative, and if respondents end-pile their ratings, as is common in survey research, then relationships with other variables are harder to detect using median split (Dabholkar and Bagozzi 2002). Thus we divided categories in groups with high, medium and low brand relevance.

Rank	Product Category	Brand Relevance	Rank	Product Category	Brand Relevance
1	Automotive	4.77	19	Shower Gel	3.66
2	Cigarettes	4.66	20	Cellular Phone Services	3.61
3	Sports Shoes	4.53	21	Convenience Food	3.59
4	MP3 Player	4.48	22	Car Repair Services	3.56
5	Power Tools	4.47	23	Sunglasses	3.56
6	Laptop Computers	4.44	24	Furniture	3.49
7	Beer	4.35	25	Desktop Computers	3.41
8	Digital Cameras	4.32	26	Fresh Food	3.38
9	Facial Care	4.24	27	OTC-Drugs	3.11
10	Skin Care	4.10	28	Casual Clothing	3.05
11	White Goods	4.08	29	TV-Channels	2.98
12	Sparkling Wine	4.07	30	Fixed Network Services	2.98
13	Televisions	4.04	31	Detergents	2.92
14	Financial Services	3.97	32	Aircare	2.88
15	Banks	3.95	33	Mineral Water	2.78
16	Softdrinks	3.91	34	Electricity	2.38
17	Business Clothing	3.88	35	Hairstyling Services	2.36
18	Insurances	3.76	36	Toilet Paper	2.07

Table 1: Brand Relevance Ranking

## 5.2 Data and Sample for the Measurement of Brand Efficiency

For examining brand efficiency we selected the following product categories covering all three groups of brand relevance (high, medium and low), containing local and global brands as well as umbrella and product brands: automotive, digital cameras, notebooks, and white goods showing high brand relevance; televisions, financial services, banks and business clothing reflecting markets with medium relevance and desktop computers, fresh food, casual clothing and electricity reflecting low relevance.

We use 220 brands for 12 categories assuring that for each category the brands cover at least 60% of the market volume. Thus, no major brand is missing in our dataset.



To get the input and output data to model the brand management chain we collected secondary data for the periods 2005 and 2006. For data on communication investments we had access on Nielsen Media Research databases including expenditures for print (newspaper, magazines), broadcast (television, radio) and outdoor (expenditures in more than 300 outdoor plant operator markets). To control for lagged and carryover effects of advertising we used a function of previous period (2005) and current period (2006) expenditures as the communication input (Charnes et al. 1997). As most studies on advertising response modeling found that 90% of all advertising effects dissipate after 15 months at latest (see the review in Vakratsas and Ambler 1999) this time span seems adequate.

For quality costs we used costs of goods sold taken from AMADEUS, a leading company data base similar to COMPUSTAT. This metric reflects all expenditures associated with ensuring that products conform to specifications (Ittner, Nagar, and Rajan 2001) and consists of three types of cost: prevention costs (costs for design/process improvements, engineering, training and high quality material); appraisal costs (costs for inspection and testing to detect quality problems) and internal failure costs (costs for scrapping and reworking defective products).

Distribution costs taken from AMADEUS database refer to the costs for making the product available in a great number of stores in order to offer the brand where and when consumers want it and thus reducing the time consumers must spend searching, providing convenience in purchasing, and making it easier to get services related to the product. Hence, distribution costs encompass costs for outlets, sales force and trade marketing (Smith 1992; Yoo et al. 2000).

Data for image (esteem) and awareness (knowledge) were provided by Young & Rubicam. Esteem reflects the level of regard consumers hold for the brand and valence of consumer attitude. It is measured on a seven-point scale. Knowledge reflects the awareness and the extent to which customers recall and recognize the brand. Young & Rubicam asks respondents to indicate on a seven-point scale their familiarity with a brand, which is explained to include the overall awareness of the brand and the understanding of what kind of product or service the brand represents. Both metrics are part of the Brand Asset Valuator (BAV) database. BAV initiative, the most expensive and ambitious effort to measure brand



equity across products (Mizik and Jacobson 2008), has undertaken large-scale surveys of consumers regarding perceptions of brands on a host of different brand metrics.

Data on product-market performance (sales revenue, EBITDA) and stock-market performance (P/E ratio) were obtained from AMADEUS database and from annual reports. With respect to product-market performance it is important to have "clean" measures when examining the relevant contribution of brand management. That is, we need to tease out the impact of other marketing variables. Following the approach of Ailawadi, Lehmann, and Neslin (2003) and Sriram, Balachander, and Kalwani (2007) we use brand price premium data we obtained from A. C. Nielsen to adjust our product-market outputs.

Note that DEA estimates the efficiency without a priori information on tradeoffs among inputs and outputs (Chen and Agha 2004; Luo and Donthu 2006). Thus, this method is advantageous for our study as we have no prior knowledge about which part of the brand expenditures produces which part of the outputs.

Regarding the sample size of DEA studies necessary for meaningful results, the literature commonly suggests that the amount of observed units (in our case brands) has to be larger than double the amount of the product of the number of inputs and number of outputs. This test is regarded as valid for assessing the appropriateness of datasets for DEA (Dyson et al. 2001). For both steps of the model this condition is fulfilled. To check for potential outliers what is crucial due to high sensitivity of the efficient frontier, we conducted super-efficiency analysis. Brands with abnormal super-efficiency scores extremely push out the frontier leading to biased efficiency evaluations. As all brands' super-efficiency scores are below the suggested screen level of 1.2 (Banker and Chang 2006) there is no need for removing brands from the dataset. In summary, the DEA results can be expected to be robust and valid (Doyle and Green 1995).



# 6 **RESULTS**

We test our hypotheses by comparing average efficiency scores between product categories or groups of brands respectively. It has to be noted that due to the non-parametric nature of DEA, statistical properties of DEA estimators are largely unknown. Therefore, most studies report DEA efficiency results without any evaluation of the significance of the estimates (Kittelsen 1999). This implies that the efficiency is measured without error. However, since these measures are calculated from a finite sample of observations they are liable to sampling error. Recent work by Banker (1996), Kittelsen (1999) and Simar and Wilson (2006) has shown the applicability of statistical tests under specific conditions. Based on Monte Carlo simulations the authors show that with non-nested and independent samples – which we have in our study - the paired t-test performs quite well even in case of small samples.

## 6.1 Study 1: Testing the Influence of Brand Relevance on Brand Efficiency

As brand relevance reflects several market characteristics and is thus located on aggregated category-level we test the influence of brand relevance by comparing average efficiency scores of brands between categories. For testing the influence of globalness and brand architecture we compare groups of brands (global vs. local and corporate vs. product) across categories.

## (1) Test of $H_{1a}$

On the first step of the brand management chain there is no relationship between the average efficiency score and the brand relevance level of the product categories (see Table 2). While the average efficiency across all high-relevance categories is on a high level (in average 90%) there is no significant difference between categories of medium relevance (average: .63) and categories of low relevance (average: .62). Moreover, there are categories of medium brand relevance (televisions: .94) that have higher efficiency scores than categories of high brand relevance (white goods: .81; notebooks: .92). Even in the category with high brand relevance there is considerable room for improvements (white goods: .81), and at the same time there exist categories with low brand relevance (electricity: .78) where brands are as efficient like



brands in high-relevance categories. The results confirm  $H_{1a}$  implying that in the first step of the brand management chain external market conditions as brand relevance have no systematic influence on brand efficiency.

High Brand Relevance	Step 1			Step 2		
8	Digital	Note-	White	Digital	Note-	White
	Cameras	books	Goods	Cameras	books	Goods
Average efficiency score (all brands)	.97	.92	.81	.93	.92	.90
Average efficiency score (inefficient brands)	.86	.86	.53	.89	.86	.78
Madium Brand Palayanca		Stop 1			Sten 2	
Wiedrum Brand Kelevance	<u>г.                                    </u>		T 1	<u>г.                                    </u>	<u> </u>	T 1
	Financial	Business	l ele-	Financial	Business	l ele-
	Services	Clothing	VISIONS	Services	Clothing	VISIONS
Average efficiency score (all brands)	.37	.57	.94	.82	.78	.80
Average efficiency score (inefficient brands)	.18	.35	.89	.75	.71	.63
Low Brand Relevance		Step 1			Step 2	
	Fresh	Casual	Electri-	Fresh	Casual	Electri-
	Food	Clothing	city	Food	Clothing	city
Average efficiency score (all brands)	.70	.39	.78	.70	.54	.75
Average efficiency score (inefficient brands)	.58	.19	.68	.65	.63	.71

Table 2: Results for Study 1

#### (2) Test of H<sub>1b</sub>

Regarding the second step of the brand management chain all efficiency scores for the highrelevance categories are above the scores of the medium-relevance categories; and all scores of the medium-relevance level are higher than the scores of the low-relevance level. The t-test indicates that with respect to high vs. medium relevance for six of the nine pairs of average efficiency scores the difference is significant on p < .05. For the nine pairs of average efficiency scores in the medium vs. low relevance comparison three differences are significant at p < .01 and two differences are significant at p < .05. These results confirm H<sub>1b</sub> showing that the efficiency of the input-output-transformation on the second step of the brand



management chain is strongly influenced by brand relevance. As the mean efficiency across all three low-relevance markets (.66) indicate, for the average brand almost 35% of the current values of awareness and image are not converted into financial value, i.e., are wasted inputs. In contrast, in the markets for digital cameras, notebooks and white goods investments in awareness and image are much better reflected in the bottom line.

#### (3) Comparison of Results for the Inefficient Brands between the Categories

Finally, an analysis of the inefficient brands is relevant for the deduction of managerial implications as well. The efficiency of inefficient brands for step 2 is considerably high in categories with high brand relevance (average: .84). The average is higher compared to the inefficient brands in medium and low level categories. This indicates that it would be relatively easy for all brands in the high-brand relevance sample to reach the efficient frontier. The results indicate a lead of these industries, even with respect to inefficient units. This provides further support for  $H_{1b}$ . Our results confirm the assumption that brand relevance is a good basis for determining the optimum level of brand investment since it shows a high predictive validity for the process of converting customer-perceived brand equity into financial performance.

## 6.2 Study 2: Testing the Influence of Brand Globalness on Brand Efficiency

#### (1) Test of H<sub>2a</sub>

In order to separate the influence of globalness we compare global vs. local brands for each brand relevance level (see Table 3). On the first step of the brand chain for each relevance level the average efficiency scores of the global brands are significantly higher than for the local brands: is .10 for high relevance (p < .1); .49 for medium relevance (p < .001) and .14 for low relevance (p < .05). Moreover, the variation of the average efficiency scores within the global brands is low (SD = .103) compared to the variation within the local brands (SD = .32). These results confirm H<sub>2a</sub> showing that the efficiency of the transformation in the first step of the brand management chain is significantly influenced by the globalness of a brand.



For global brands there is little room for improvements in the first step even in the product markets with lowest brand relevance. The average efficiency score of .90 indicates that the average brand could reduce spending by 10% (1 - .90) while holding the level of outputs (image, awareness) constant. For local brands, there is extensive room for improvement for all product markets considered. The average brand could reduce spending by 35% (1 - .65) for a given level of outputs.

<b>Global Brands</b>	-	Step 1			Step 2		
Brand Relevance Level	High	Medium	Low	High	Medium	Low	
Average efficiency score (all brands)	.91	.86	.92	.94	.80	.68	
Average efficiency score (inefficient brands)	.80	.72	.86	.91	.65	.51	
Local Brands		Step 1			Step 2		
Brand Relevance Level	High	Medium	Low	High	Medium	Low	
Average efficiency score (all brands)	.81	.37	.78	.90	.78	.75	
Average efficiency score (inefficient brands)	.53	.18	.68	.78	.71	.71	

Table 3: Results for Study 2

## (2) Test of H<sub>2b</sub>

On the second step of the brand management chain the average efficiency scores of global and local brands are quite close for all three brand relevance levels; the pairs of efficiency scores for the high, medium and low-relevance level exhibit no significant differences. Both local and global brands can obtain high efficiency scores in step 2 in markets with high relevance level. In contrast, global brands in markets with low brand relevance do not reach high efficiency despite their global orientation. This provides further support for  $H_{1b}$ . Thus, there is no evidence for a moderating effect of a brand's globalness on efficiency in step 2 and thus we have to reject  $H_{2b}$ .

## (3) Comparison of Results for the Inefficient Brands Between global and local groups

Again, analyzing the inefficient brands gives insightful implications for management. The step 1 average efficiency scores for global brands are at a high level even for inefficient



brands (average: .79). In contrast the inefficient brands of the local set obtain an average efficiency score of only .46 across the three brand relevance levels ( significant at p < .001). Thus, our results show that for local brands it is very difficult to create high customer based brand equity from the employed brand resources. These findings support H<sub>2a</sub>, stating that global brands are more efficient in obtaining CBBE through their branding activities than local brands.

# 6.3 Study 3: Testing the Influence of Brand Architecture on Brand Efficiency

## (1) Test of H<sub>3a</sub>

Again, analyzing the inefficient brands gives insightful implications for management. The step 1 average efficiency scores for global brands are at a high level even for inefficient brands (average: .79). In contrast the inefficient brands of the local set obtain an average efficiency score of only .46 across the three brand relevance levels (significant at p < .001). Thus, our results show that for local brands it is very difficult to create high customer based brand equity from the employed brand resources. These findings support  $H_{2a}$ , stating that global brands are more efficient in obtaining CBBE through their branding activities than local brands  $H_{3a}$ .

	Ste	p 1	Step 2		
	Corporate Brands	Product Brands	Corporate Brands	Mixed Brands	
Average efficiency score (all brands)	.86	.57	.72	.68	_
Average efficiency score (inefficient brands)	.73	.47	.66	.68	

Table 4: Results for Study 3

#### (2) Test of H<sub>3b</sub>

On the second step no significant efficiency differences between corporate and product brands can be detected (.72 - .68 = .04). This indicates that brand architecture has no moderating effect on efficiency on step 2. Thus H<sub>3b</sub> has to be rejected.



#### (3) Comparison of Results for Inefficient Brands Between corporate and product brands

Analyzing the differences for the inefficient brands between the two groups shows that corporate brands have a moderate level of .73 on step 1. Consequently, inefficient umbrella brands can reach the efficient frontier much easier than inefficient product brands showing an average efficiency score of only .47 ( significant at p < .01). Thus, for most inefficient product brands it seems to be a great challenge to get on the efficient frontier. This again provides support for H<sub>3a</sub>. The rejection of H<sub>3b</sub> can be confirmed, showing that the average efficiency scores of inefficient corporate and product brands are very close (.66 and .68).

#### 6.4 Robustness Test

To ensure the robustness of the findings extracted above we repeated the analysis for a new data set. This time we focused on publicly traded "mono-brand" manufacturers, in order to check whether our implications are robust when using stock-market based metrics as financial outcomes instead of conventional profitability measures like revenue or EBITDA.

To reflect high brand relevance we used the automotive industry. As the industry for medium brand relevance we used banks and for low brand relevance we used desktop computers. As Table 5 shows, all results from study 1 to 3 are supported by the result of the additional analysis.

Publicly traded brands		Step 1			Step 2	
	Auto-		Desktop	Auto-		Desktop
Product Category	motive	Banks	Computers	motive	Banks	Computers
<b>Brand Relevance Level</b>	High	Medium	Low	High	Medium	Low
Average efficiency score (all brands)	.91	.86	.92	.94	.80	.66
Average efficiency score (inefficient brands)	.80	.72	.86	.91	.65	.51

#### Table 5: Results of the Robustness Test

The difference of brand efficiency for step 2 between the different categories - representing the three brand relevance levels - is significant: .14 (p < .05); .14 (p < .05). This provides support for H<sub>1b</sub>. On step 1, no significant difference is found confirming H<sub>1a</sub>. Moreover,



arguing that publicly traded brands always are corporate brands, and that the brands analyzed in this study are all operating globally,  $H_{2a}$  and  $H_{3a}$  are supported, as all categories have high efficiency scores on the first step of the brand management chain. Finally, analyzing the inefficient brands provides further support for the hypotheses  $H_{1a}$ ,  $H_{1b}$ ,  $H_{2a}$ , and  $H_{3a}$ . For step 1 the inefficient brands show a relatively high level of efficiency across all categories, supporting  $H_{2a}$  and  $H_{3a}$ . For step 2 the efficiency scores of inefficient brands significantly differ between the categories of high, medium and low brand relevance, supporting  $H_{1b}$ .

As the overall results in Table 6 show, the ranking of the categories with respect to second step brand efficiency (from high to low) highly corresponds with the brand relevance ranking of the categories. This holds true for almost all categories, analyzed in study 1-3 and the robustness test. Thus, our results are robust with respect to product-category type and types of financial outcome measures.

Product Category	Brand Relevance Score	Average Brand Efficiency		
		Score (Step 2)		
Automotive	4.77	.94		
Digital Cameras	4.61	.93		
Notebooks	4.44	.92		
White Goods	4.29	.90		
Televisions	4.04	.80		
Financial Services	3.99	.82		
Banks	3.95	.86		
Business Clothing	3.88	.78		
Desktop Computers	3.43	.68		
Fresh Food	3.20	.70		
Casual Clothing	3.18	.54		
Electricity	2.38	.75		

Table 6: Overall Results



# 7 DISCUSSION

Brand managers are accountable for the task of getting the most out of brand investments such as communication, distribution and quality investments. Brand investments become increasingly threatened since they entail a large part of the overall marketing costs. The cost of bringing a new brand to market is approximately \$100 million, with a 50 percent probability of failure (Crawford 1993). Thus, it becomes important for brand managers to show the efficiency of their multimillion dollar spending (Rust et al. 2004). A methodologically sound measure of brand efficiency is challenging because firms often target their expenditures to promote multiple outcomes simultaneously, such as both visible sales and stock performance and invisible brand image and awareness.

## (1) Theoretical contribution

First, in this paper we answer Rust and colleagues' (2004, p. 83) call for new methodologies "for comprehensively modeling the chain of marketing productivity all the way from tactical actions to financial impact or firm value." We provide a holistic and theoretically sound measure for the efficiency of both steps of the brand management process with efficiency being defined as a multiple-output to multiple-input ratio. In the first step we examined the transformation of brand investments into customer-based metrics (CBBE). The first step model represents the cognitive and affective aspect of brand equity (brand awareness and brand image). Subsequently, in the second step model it has been investigated whether customer metrics have been translated successfully into "hard" financial metrics.

As a second theoretical contribution we develop, test and validate a multi-item measure to assess brand relevance in a product category. This allows analyzing if brands have an impact on consumers' purchase decisions. This measurement model could be used to reveal the antecedents (brand values and product market characteristics) of brand relevance.

## (2) Managerial contribution

First, managers can use our brand efficiency concept to benchmark their brand management performance by comparing it to the maximum production frontier which is formed by the



brands that achieve the best input-output-transformation. In addition they can identify the percentage of wasted inputs and the sources of (in-)efficiency.

Second, our results show that global brands are more efficient in obtaining CBBE through their branding activities than local brands. One reason for this is the possibility of generating strong synergies and economies of scale. Another explanation is that efficiently converging brand inputs into brand outputs is a specific capability depending on firm's managerial skills and competencies. Following the resource-based view, these competencies and skills can be gained both internally through knowledge management, training, education) and externally (through brand agencies, consulting firms and often horizontal acquisitions). Global brands have easier and better access to those superior competencies and skills, both internally and externally. Pursuing a globalized branding strategy enables a cross-border transfer of branding expertise and skills within the firm making it easier to implement a "best practice" brand management. Also, learning and experience effects can be accumulated and accelerated through brand standardization. The transfer of these skills between firms can be gained by exerting a strong attraction on high potentials to global firms as well as by benefiting from increased exchange of knowledge between firms through consultants or career changers. Global firms may have more financial resources dedicated to each global brand that enables them to reap the benefits of know-how transfer between firms. This is supported by our results that efficiency within the group of global brands is more homogeneous compared to the group of local brands that shows a significantly higher efficiency variance.

The easier access to superior branding skills - internally and externally - leads to a strong competitive advantage of global firms over local firms and, thus, higher profitability. Since local firms are less mobile they have less access to these skills and capabilities as well as fewer opportunities to benefit of an exchange of skills within the firm.

**Third**, our results show that brand management for a single umbrella brand seems more efficient than managing several single brands. By distinguishing between the customer and the financial perspective in our two-step framework we are able to locate the sources of this performance advantage of umbrella brands within the first step of the brand management chain. Thus, saving resources and obtaining synergies in brand investments in the process of producing customer-based outcomes are the key advantages of managing umbrella brands.



**Fourth**, we reveal a significant influence of external market condition as brand relevance has a systematic influence on brand management efficiency. This complements a recent study by Slotegraaf et al. (2003) that requires more research not only on how brand equity can be created but also how it can be deployed in the marketplace. As the results show, firms are equally successful in creating consumer-based assets, i.e. resource possession is not the problem. However, they differ significantly in deploying these assets consistent with market requirements reflected through the level of brand relevance in the product-market they are operating in. Thus, brand relevance should be seen an important metric for determining the optimal extent and allocation of brand investments since it shows a high predictive validity for the efficiency of converting customer-perceived brand equity into financial performance. It should be used as the basis for designing market-driven brand strategies. Our findings show that high brand investments in markets with high brand relevance are accountable while the enormous costs to build up well known brands in markets with low brand relevance have to be scrutinized. In such markets other criteria than brands seem to be the key drivers of consumers buying decisions.

Our measurement model and the understanding of brand relevance provides companies with a more solid basis for determining how much to spend on communication. High communication intensity can only be justified if the level of brand relevance is high. If the level of brand relevance is low, such investments should be reallocated to other marketing parameters. For example, for the energy market brand investments are highly inefficient due to the low significance of brands in this category. Consequently, the use of other marketing parameters would be more beneficial. Our findings do question the recent discussion whether customer equity and brand equity should necessarily be integrated (Ambler et al. 2002; Leone et al. 2006). Instead, we propose that an integrated approach is only appropriate in markets with high brand relevance. From a financial perspective companies in industries with low brand relevance should concentrate on customer equity.

#### (3) Limitations and Future Research Issues

We acknowledge several limitations of our study which provide fruitful avenues of future research. **First**, our conceptual brand management model could be extended with additional input, output and moderating variables. For example "energy" as a new pillar of the Brand Asset Valuator (BAV) could be integrated. This variable indicates future orientation and



capabilities of the brand; it shows a brand's ability to meet consumers' needs in the future. Thus, brands that score high on this dimension and thus have the ability to adapt changing needs should maintain or even enhance brand management efficiency over time. Thus, another improvement would be to analyze changes in efficiency over time. The results of a dynamic DEA model could be used to test the predictive validity of the "energy" metric. **Second**, with longitudinal studies the influence of changes in competition (e.g., entrance of new competitors) or the development from an emerging to a mature market could be revealed.

**Third**, our robustness test using stock-market based metrics as financial outcomes could be extended to more markets with publicly traded "mono-brand" manufacturers. Another aspect would be to transfer our model and to test our hypotheses in B2B-markets.

**Fourth**, category-specific knowledge about brand values as antecedents of brand relevance would be helpful for brand positioning. Brand managers could align brand positioning to that brand benefits that are the specific reasons for using brands as a decision criterion in a category (e.g., risk reduction or hedonic benefits). Communication campaigns could also add elements that emphasize the importance of branding for making superior purchase decisions (e.g., through messages such as "you can always count on brands in this market").



# REFERENCES

- Aaker, D. A. (1996), Building strong brands. New York: The Free Press.
- Aaker, D. A. (2004), Brand Portfolio Strategy. New York: The Free Press.
- Aaker, D. A. and E. Joachimsthaler (1999), "The Lure of Global Branding," Harvard Business Review, 77 (6), 137-144.
- Aaker, D. A. and G. S. Day (1974), "A Dynamic Model of Relationships Among Advertising, Consumer Awareness, Attitudes, and Behavior", *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 59 (3), 281-286.
- Aaker, D. A. and R. Jacobson (2001), "The Value Relevance of Brand Attitude in High-Technology Markets," *Journal of Marketing Research*, 38 (4), 485-493.
- Ailawadi, K., D. R. Lehmann, and S. A. Neslin (2003), "Revenue premium as an outcome measure of brand equity," *Journal of Marketing*, 67 (4), 1–17.
- Ambler, T. and P. Barwise (1998), "The Trouble with Brand Valuation," Journal of Brand Management, 5 (5), 367–377.
- Ambler, T., C. B. Bhattacharya, J. Edell, K. L. Keller, K. N. Lemon, and V. Mittal (2002), "Relating Brand and Customer Perspectives on Marketing Management," *Journal of Service Research*, 5 (1), 13-25.
- Anderson, J. R. (1983), *The architecture of cognition*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press
- Banker, R. D. (1996), "Hypothesis Tests Using Data Envelopment Analysis," Journal of Productivity Analysis, 7, 139-159.
- Banker, R. D. and H. Chang (2006), "The super-efficiency procedure is for outlier identification, not for ranking efficient units," *European Journal of Operational Research*, 175 (2), 1311-1320.
- Baron, R. M. and D. A. Kenny (1986), "The moderator-mediator variable distinction in social psychological research," *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 51, 1173-1182.



- Boulding, W., A. Kalra, and R. Staelin (1999), "The Quality Double Whammy," *Marketing Science*, 18 (4), 463-484.
- Boulding, W., E. Lee, and R. Staelin (1994), "Mastering the Mix: Do Advertising, Promotion, and Sales Force Activities Lead to Differentiation?" *Journal of Marketing Research*, 31 (2), 159-172.
- Capron, L. and J. Hulland (1999), "Redeployment of Brands, Sales Forces, and General Marketing Management Expertise Following Horizontal Acquisitions: A Resource-Based View," *Journal of Marketing*, 63 (2), 41-54.
- Charnes, A., W. W. Cooper, and E. Rhodes (1978), "Measuring the Efficiency of Decision Making Units," *European Journal of Operational Research*, 2 (6), 429-444.
- Charnes, A., W. W. Cooper, B. Golany, D. B. Learner, F. Y. Phillips, and J. J. Rousseau (1997), "A Multiperiod Analysis of Market Segments and Brand Efficiency in the Competitive Carbonated Beverage Industry," in *Data Envelopment Analysis: Theory, Methodology, and Application*, A. Charnes, W. W. Cooper, A. Y. Lewin, and L. M. Seiford, eds., 3rd ed. Boston, 145-165.
- Chen, Y. and A. Agha (2004), "DEA Malmquist Productivity Measure: New Insights with an Application to Computer Industry," *European Journal of Operational Research*, 159 (1), 239–249.
- Chu, S. and H. Keh (2006), "Brand Value Creation: Analysis of the Interbrand-Business Week Brand Value Rankings," *Marketing Letters*, 17 (4), 323-331.
- Chu, W. and W. Chu (1994), "Signaling Quality by Selling through a Reputable Retailer: An Example of Renting the Reputation of Another Agent," *Marketing Science*, 13 (2), 177-189.
- Cobb-Walgren, C. J., C. A. Ruble, and N. Donthu (1995), "Brand Equity, Brand Preference, and Purchase Intent," *Journal of Advertising*, 24 (3), 25-40.
- Court, D., A. Freeling, M. Leiter, and A. J. Parsons (1996), "Uncovering the Value of Brands," *The McKinsey Quarterly*, 4, 176-178.



- Craig, C. S. and S. P. Douglas (2000), "Building Global Brands in the 21<sup>st</sup> Century," *Japan and the World Economy*, 12 (3), 273-283.
- Cramphorn, S. (2006), "How to Use Advertising to Build Brands," *International Journal of Market Research*, 48 (3), 255-276.
- Crawford, M. (1993), New Products Management. Homewood, IL: Irwin.
- Dabholkar, P. A. and R. P. Bagozzi (2002): "An Attitudinal Model of Technology-Based Self-Service: Moderating Effects of Consumer Traits and Situational Factors," *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 30 (3), 184-201.
- Doyle, J. R. and R. H. Green (1995), "Cross Evaluation in DEA: Improving discrimination among DMUs," INFOR, 33 (3), 205-222.
- Dutta, S., O. Narasimhan, and S. Rajiv (2005), "Conceptualizing and Measuring Capabilities: Methodology and Empirical Application," *Strategic Management Journal*, 26 (3), 277-285.
- Dyson, R. G., R. Allen, A. S. Camanho, V. V. Podinovski, C. S. Sarrico, and E. A. Shale (2001), "Pitfalls and Protocols in DEA," *European Journal of Operational Research*, 132 (2), 245-259.
- Erdem, T. (1998), "An Empirical Analysis of Umbrella Branding," Journal of Marketing Research, 35 (3), 339-351.
- Erdem, T. and J. Swait (1998), "Brand Equity as a Signaling Phenomenon," *Journal of Consumer Psychology*, 7 (2), 131-157.
- Erdem, T., J. Swait, and A. Valenzuela (2006), "Brands as Signals: A Cross-Country Validation Study," *Journal of Marketing*, 70 (1), 34-49.
- Farris, P., J. Olver, and C. De Kluyver (1989), "The Relationship Between Distribution and Market Share," *Marketing Science*, 8 (2), 107-127.
- Fischer, M., H. Meffert, and J. Perrey (2004), "Markenpolitik: Ist sie für jedes Unternehmen gleichermaßen relevant? Eine empirische Untersuchung zur Bedeutung von Marken in Konsumgütermärkten", *Die Betriebswirtschaft*, 64 (3), 333-356.



- Frieder, L. and A. Subrahmanyam (2005), "Brand perceptions and the market for common stock," *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis*, 40 (1), 65-85.
- Grullon, G., G. Kanatas, and J. P. Weston (2004), "Advertising, Breadth of Ownership, and Liquidity," *The Review of Financial Studies*, 17 (2), 439-461.
- Gupta, S. and V. A. Zeithaml (2006), "Customer Metrics and Their Impact on Financial Performance," *Marketing Science*, 25 (6), 718–39.
- Hoeffler, S. and K. L. Keller (2003), "The marketing advantages of strong brands," *Journal of Brand Management*, 10 (6), 421–445.
- Holt, D., J. A. Quelch, and E. L. Taylor (2004), "How Global Brands Compete," *Harvard Business Review*, 82 (9), 68-75.
- Itami, H. and T. W. Roehl (1991), Mobilizing invisible assets. Cambridge.
- Ittner, C. D., V. Nagar, and M. V. Rajan (2001), "An Empirical Examination of Dynamic Quality-Based Learning Models," *Management Science*, 47 (4), 563-578.
- Johnson, M. D., A. Herrmann, and F. Huber (2006), "The Evolution of Loyalty Intentions," *Journal of Marketing*, 70 (2), 122-132.
- Joshi, A. and D. M. Hanssens (2004), "Advertising Spending and Market Capitalization," Report No. 04-110, Marketing Science Institute, Cambridge.
- Kapferer, J.-N. (2004), *Strategic brand management: new approaches to creating and evaluating brand equity*. London.
- Kapferer, J.-N. and G. Laurent (1992), "La sensibilité aux marques marchés sans marques, marchés à marques," Working Paper, HEC School of Management, Paris.
- Keh, H. T. and S. Chu (2003), "Retail Productivity and Scale Economies at the Firm Level A DEA Approach," *Omega*, 31 (2), 75-82.
- Keller, K. L. (1993), "Conceptualizing, Measuring, and Managing Customer-Based Brand Equity," *Journal of Marketing*, 57 (1), 1-22.



- Keller, K. L. (2003), Strategic Brand Management: Building, Measuring, and Managing Brand Equity. Upper Saddle River, NJ.
- Keller, K. L. and D. R. Lehmann (2003), "How Do Brands Create Value?" Marketing Management, 12 (3), 26-31.
- Keller, K. L. and D. R. Lehmann (2006), "Brands and Branding: Research Findings and Future Priorities," *Marketing Science*, 25 (6), 740-759.
- Kerin, R. A. and R. Sethuraman (1998), "Exploring the Brand Value-Shareholder Value Nexus for Consumer Goods Companies," *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 26 (4), 260-273.
- Kittelsen, S. A. C. (1999), Monte Carlo Simulations of DEA Efficiency Measures and Hypothesis Tests, Memorandum 9/99, Department of Economics, University of Oslo.
- Kohli, A. K. and B. J. Jaworski (1990), "Market orientation: the construct, research propositions, and managerial implications," *Journal of Marketing*, 54 (2), 1-18.
- Kothari, S. P. (2001), "Capital Markets Research in Accounting," *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 31 (September), 105–231.
- Lehmann, D. R. (2004), "Linking Marketing to Financial Performance and Firm Value," *Journal of Marketing*, 68 (4), 73–75.
- Leone R. P., V. R. Rao, K. L. Keller, A. M. Luo, L. McAlister, and R. Srivastava (2006), "Linking Brand Equity to Customer Equity," *Journal of Service Research*, 9 (2), 125-138.
- Luo, X. and N. Donthu (2006), "Marketing's Credibility: A Longitudinal Investigation of Marketing Communication Productivity and Shareholder Value," *Journal of Marketing*, 70 (4), 70-91.
- Madden, T. J., F. Fehle, and S. Fournier (2006), "Brands Matter: An Empirical Demonstration of the Creation of Shareholder Value through Branding," *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 34 (2), 224-235.



- Mahajan, J. (1991), "A Data Envelopment Analytic Model for Assessing the Relative Efficiency of the Selling Function," *European Journal of Operational Research*, 53 (2), 189-205.
- Mitra, D. and P. N. Golder (2006), "How Does Objective Quality Affect Perceived Quality? Short-Term Effects, Long-Term Effects, and Asymmetries," *Marketing Science*, 25 (3), 230-247.
- Mizik, N. and R. Jacobson (2008), "The Financial Value Impact of Brand Dimensions," *Journal of Marketing Research*, 45 (1), 15-32.
- Morrin, M. and S. Ratneshwar (2003), "Does It Make Sense to Use Scents to Enhance Brand Memory?" *Journal of Marketing Research*, 40 (1), 10-25.
- Mudambi, S. (2002), "Branding Importance in Business-to-Business Markets," Industrial Marketing Management, 31 (6), 525-533.
- Nielsen Media Research (2007), Brands invest more in advertising, press release, 10. 01. 2007.
- Pan, X. and X. Luo (2006), "Service Capabilities in Value Appropriation: A Conceptualization and Investigation of Internet Retailers", Working Paper, Indiana University, Bloomington.
- Perrey, J., J. Schroeder, K. Backhaus, and H. Meffert (2003), "When do brand investments pay off?" McKinsey Marketing & Sales Practice on Branding, London, 31-46.
- Quelch, J. (1999), "Global Brands: Taking Stock," Business Strategy Review, 10 (1), 1-14.
- Rao, V. R., M. K. Agarwal, and D. Dahlhoff (2004), "How is the Manifest Branding Strategy Related to the Intangible Value of a Corporation?" *Journal of Marketing*, 68 (4), 126-141.
- Rao, R. K. S. and N. Bharadwaj (2008), "Marketing Initiatives, Expected Cash Flows, and Shareholders' Wealth," *Journal of Marketing*, 72 (1), 16–26.
- Rossiter, J. R. and L. Percy (1997), Advertising Communications & Promotion Management. New York: McGraw-Hill.



- Rust, R. T., A. J. Zahorik, and T. L. Keiningham (1995), "Return on Quality (ROQ): Making service financially accountable," *Journal of Marketing*, 59 (2), 58-70.
- Rust, R. T., K. N. Lemon, and V. A. Zeithaml (2004), "Return on Marketing: Using Customer Equity to Focus Marketing Strategy," *Journal of Marketing*, 68 (1), 109-127.
- Schori, T. R. (1995), "Note on attribute importance," *Percept Motor Skills*, 80 (3), 1129–1130.
- Seiford, L. (1996), "Data envelopment analysis: the evolution of the state of the art," *Journal* of *Productivity Analysis*, 7, 99-137.
- Shankar V., P. Azar, and M. Fuller (2008), "BRAN\*EQT: A Multicategory Brand Equity Model and Its Application at Allstate," forthcoming in *Marketing Science*.
- Simar, L. and P. W. Wilson (2007), "Statistical Inference in Non-parametric Frontier Models: recent Developments and Perspectives," in *The Measurement of Productive Efficiency*, H. Fried, C. A. K. Lovell, and S. Schmidt, eds., 2nd ed., Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Slotegraaf, R. J., C. Moorman, and J. Inman (2003), "The Role of Firm Resources in Returns to Market Deployment," *Journal of Marketing Research*, 40 (3), 295-309.
- Smith, D. C. (1992), "Brand Extensions and Advertising Efficiency: What Can and Cannot Be Expected," *Journal of Advertising Research*, 32 (November), 11-20.
- Srinivasan, S. (2006), "How Do Marketing Investments Benefit Brand Revenue Premiums?" Working Paper, University of California, Riverside.
- Srinivasan, S. and D. M. Hanssens, "Marketing and Firm Value," Working Paper, UCLA Anderson School of Management, Los Angeles.
- Srinivasan, V., C. Park, and D. R. Chang (2005), "An Approach to the Measurement, Analysis, and Prediction of Brand Equity and its Sources," *Management Science*, 51 (9), 1433-1448.
- Sriram, S., S. Balachander, and M. U. Kalwani (2007), "Monitoring the Dynamics of Brand Equity Using Store-Level Data," *Journal of Marketing*, 71 (2), 61-78.



- Srivastava, J., Connolly, T., and Beach, L. R. (1995), "Do Ranks Suffice: A comparison of alternative weighting approaches in value elicitation," *Organizational Behaviour and Human Decision Processes*, 63 (1), 112-116.
- Srivastava, R. K. and D. J. Reibstein (2004), "Metrics for Linking Marketing to Financial Performance," Working Paper No. 1-28, Marketing Science Institute.
- Srivastava, R. K., T. A. Shervani, and L. Fahey (1998), "Market-Based Assets and Shareholder Value: A Framework for Analysis," *Journal of Marketing*, 62 (1), 2-18.
- Steenkamp J.-B., R. Batra, and D. L. Alden (2003), "How Perceived Brand Globalness Creates Brand Value," *Journal of International Business Studies*, 34 (1), 53-65.
- Steenkamp J.-B. and H. C. M. van Trijp (1997), "Attribute elicitation in marketing research: a comparison of three approaches," *Marketing Letters*, 8 (2), 153–165.
- Stillwell, W. G., F. H. Barron, and W. Edward (1983), "Evaluating Credit Applications: A Validation of Multiattribute Utility Weight Elicitation Techniques," *Journal of Organizational Behaviour and Human Performance*, 32 (1), 87-108.
- Sweeney, J. C. and G. N. Soutar (2001), "Consumer perceived value: The development of a multiple item scale," *Journal of Retailing*, 77 (2), 203-220.
- Vakratsas, D. and T. Ambler (1999), "How Advertising Works: What Do We Really Know?" *Journal of Marketing*, 63 (1), 26-43.
- van Ittersum, K., J. M. E. Pennings, B. Wansink, and H. C. M. van Trijp (2007), "The validity of attribute-importance measurement: A review," *Journal of Business Research*, 60 (11), 1177-1190.
- Villarejo-Ramos, A. F., F. J. Rondan-Cataluna, M. J. Sanchez-Franco (2008), "Direct and Indirect Effects of Marketing Effort on Brand Awareness and Brand Image," International Congress "Marketing Trends", Venice, Italy.
- Villas-Boas, J. M. (2004), "Consumer learning, brand loyalty, and competition," Marketing Science, 23 (1), 134–145.



- Weilbacher, W. M. (2001), "Point of View: Does Advertising Cause a 'Hierarchy of Effects'?" Journal of Advertising Research, 41 (6), 19-26.
- Wernerfelt, B. (1984), "A Resource-Based View of the Firm," Strategic Management Journal, 5 (2), 171-180.
- Yip, G. S. (2003), *Total Global Strategy: Managing for Worldwide Competitive Advantage*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Yoo, B. and N. Donthu (2001), "Developing and Validating a Multidimensional Consumer-Based Brand Equity Scale," *Journal of Business Research*, 52 (1), 1-14.
- Yoo, B., N. Donthu, and S. Lee (2000), "An Examination of Selected Marketing Mix Elements and Brand Equity," *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 28 (2), 195-211.
- Yoo, Y. C., P. A. Stout, and K. Kim (2004), "Assessing the Effects of Animation in Online Banner Advertising: Hierarchy of Effects Model," *Journal of Interactive Advertising*, 4 (2), 7-19.